1987

# Laura Lee Bloxham Fullmer v. Brian Keith Fullmer : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction over this domestic relations matter pursuant to U.C.A. Section 78-2a-3(2)(g).

NATURE OF PROCEEDING

This is an appeal from a final Order Modifying Decree of the Fourth Judicial District Court, Judge Boyd L. Park presiding, in which the lower court modified the previously entered Decree of Divorce as to child custody, child support, alimony, and federal and state tax exemptions.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial court err when it ruled that there had been, since the time of the decree, substantial and material

changes in the circumstances upon which the previous custody award was based?

II. Did the trial court err when it ruled that the plaintiff's transition from part-time employment to full-time employment and the placement of the minor child in a day care center constituted a change of circumstances sufficiently substantial and material to justify reopening the question of custody?

III. Did the trial court err when it ruled that the remarriage of defendant, the non-custodial parent, to a full-time homemaker, constituted a change of circumstances sufficiently substantial and material to justify reopening the question of custody?

IV. Even had the trial court correctly found that changes of circumstance existed, did the trial court err when it awarded joint custody of the child to the parties and physical care, custody and control to defendant?

V. Did the trial court err when, in modifying the award of child custody, it ruled that defendant should pay plaintiff the sum of \$250.00 per month during the three-month summer visitation awarded to plaintiff?

VI. Did the trial court err when it set the previous award of alimony for review in one year?

VII. Did the trial court err when it awarded defendant the 1987 and 1988 federal and state income tax exemptions for the

minor child to defendant?

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATE STATUTES

Utah Code Annotated, Section 30-3-5(3):

The court has continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for the support and maintenance of the parties, the custody of the children and their support, maintenance, health, and dental care, or the distribution of the property as is reasonable and necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal from a final Order Modifying Decree entered after a trial on Defendant-Respondent's Amended Petition to Modify and Plaintiff-Appellant's Counter Petition to Modify in the Fourth District Court, Judge Boyd L. Park presiding, in which the lower court modified the Decree of Divorce signed by Judge David Sam on February 19, 1985.

B. Course of the Proceedings.

The Decree of Divorce in this matter was originally signed by Judge David Sam of the Fourth Judicial District Court on February 19, 1985 and became final three months later, May 19, 1985. (R. 22-23) In that decree, plaintiff-appellant (hereinafter "plaintiff") was awarded custody of the minor child, child support of \$150.00 per month, and alimony of \$200.00 per month. The issue of tax exemptions was not addressed.

Defendant-Respondent (hereinafter "defendant") filed his Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce in September, 1986,

requesting that child custody be awarded to him (R. 28), and his Amended Petition to Modify in February, 1987 (R. 62), requesting an elimination of alimony and an award to him of the state and federal tax exemptions. Plaintiff filed her Counter Petition to Modify in October, 1986, requesting an increase in the amount of child support awarded to her. (R. 49)

Trial was held on October 13, 1987 before Judge Boyd L. Park. (R. 183)

C. DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW.

After the trial on October 13, 1987, Judge Boyd L. Park ruled from the bench, finding: (1) that there had been material changes of circumstance, and (2) that he was entitled to consider the matter of custody. (R. 67)

The lower court found that the following constituted a material change of circumstance:

(a) The change in plaintiff's work schedule to full-time employment, which had necessitated the placement of the minor child, Dagin, in a day care center on a full-time basis. (R. 195)

(b) The remarriage of defendant and his creation, thereby, of a stable home environment where the child could be cared for by a stepmother who was a homemaker, not working outside the home, during those times when the defendant was working. (R. 195)

Having found the necessary change of circumstances, the lower court made the following findings regarding the issue of child custody:

(a) That the minor child should dwell in a stable environment, and that the defendant could provide better stability and was in a better position to take care of the minor child at the present time. (R. 196)

(b) That the plaintiff had less time available to spend with the minor child, as she was working full-time. (R. 199)

(c) That there had been significant changes in the environment and goals of the plaintiff, and that there had been a considerable degree of stability of the environment in the defendant. (R. 199)

(d) That the day care center in which the minor is enrolled appeared to be an excellent facility, but that the stepmother had developed an excellent loving relationship with the minor child and would be available as a homemaker in the home at times needed by the child. The Court also found that the minor child had seemed to develop an excellent appropriate relationship with his stepsister. (R. 199)

(e) That the custody of the minor child should be modified to award joint custody to both parties, with the actual physical care, custody and control being awarded to the defendant, and that the issue of child custody should be reviewed in one year. (R. 195-196)

(f) That the \$200 per month alimony should not be presently discontinued, but that this issue should be reviewed in one year. (R. 196)

(g) That plaintiff should not pay child support to defendant at such times as he has custody, but that the defendant should pay to the plaintiff the sum of \$250.00 per month during the three-month summer visitation during which she shall have custody. (R. 196-197)

(h) That defendant should be awarded the 1987 and 1988 federal and state income tax exemptions, as he was and is the primary care provider for the bulk of those tax periods. (R. 197)

Conclusions of Law consistent with the above findings were prepared and filed with the Findings of Fact. (R. 200-202) The Order Modifying Decree awarded joint custody of the minor child to the two parties, with actual physical care, custody and control awarded to defendant. Plaintiff was not ordered to pay child support at such times as the defendant had actual custody of the child; defendant was ordered to pay plaintiff \$250.00 per month during the three-month summer visitation period. The defendant was awarded the 1987 and 1988 federal and state tax exemptions. The previous award of alimony was not modified nor mentioned in the final Order, although the Findings of Fact indicated that the Court would review the alimony award in one year. (R. 204-206)

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiff and defendant were married on November 22, 1980 in Salt Lake City, Utah. (R. 1, 268) The only child of the parties, a son, Dagin Lester Fullmer, was born on May 19, 1983. (R. 1, 255) Plaintiff filed her divorce Complaint on September 17, 1984

in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County. (R. 1, 254) The parties entered into an Amended Stipulation, which was filed with the court on February 19, 1985. (R. 10, 254) The Decree of Divorce, which incorporated the terms of the Amended Stipulation, was signed by Judge David Sam of the Fourth Judicial District Court on February 19, 1985 and became final three months later, May 19, 1985. (R. 22-23, 255-256) In that decree, plaintiff was awarded custody of the minor child, child support of \$150.00 per month, and alimony of \$200.00 per month. The issue of federal and state tax exemptions was not addressed. (R. 22-23)

Prior to the parties' divorce, plaintiff worked part-time, approximately three to four hours per day. At the time of the divorce, plaintiff began working part-time and attending school from one to four hours per day. (R. 253) Defendant remarried after the Decree of Divorce became final, and a child was born approximately four months thereafter to defendant and his new wife. (R. 257)

Defendant filed his Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce in September, 1986 requesting modification of the decree regarding child custody (R. 28), and later filed his Amended Petition to Modify in February, 1987 requesting modification of the decree regarding alimony and the state and federal tax exemptions. (R. 62) Plaintiff filed her Counter Petition to Modify in October, 1986 requesting modification of the decree regarding the amount of child support. (R. 49)

Plaintiff was served with the defendant's Petition to Modify Decree the night before she was to move to New York City with the minor child of the parties. At that time, she had moved out of her apartment in Provo and had sold or given away most of her furniture and belongings that required larger storage facilities. (R. 285) As plaintiff literally had nowhere to live, she and her child stayed temporarily with a friend in Provo, until they moved to Sunset, Utah, where plaintiff's parents took them in. (R. 285, 290) The money she had saved for the move to New York City was used to retain an attorney. When she was financially able, she moved into her own apartment in Salt Lake City. (R. 285)

At the time plaintiff was served with the Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce, she had terminated her part-time employment with the Brick Oven Restaurant in Provo in anticipation of her move to New York City. (R. 292) She then found part-time employment with Nelson Laboratories in Salt Lake City, where she made a gross monthly salary of \$444.00. (R. 292, 83) During this time period, defendant made only sporadic payments of child support and alimony. (R. 286) For example, on May 22, 1987, when plaintiff signed her Affidavit for Pretrial, defendant was three months behind on his child support and alimony, which sum would be \$1,050. (R. 75)

Because she could not adequately support herself and the child on a gross salary of \$444.00 per month, plaintiff began to work full-time, at the gross monthly salary of \$950.00, for a Salt

Lake City law firm as a legal receptionist during the summer of 1987, just a few months before the trial was held. (R. 156, 194, 286) As a necessary result of this new employment, the minor child was placed in full-time child care at a day care center, Tutor Time, in downtown Salt Lake City, not far from her new employment. Kindergarten instruction will also be available in this facility when the minor child attains the age of five years. (R. 285)

Since the time of the divorce and throughout this litigation defendant has been employed at WICAT Systems, Inc. in Orem, Utah where he receives a monthly gross salary of \$2,630.00. His wife does not work outside the home. (R. 142, 277)

Trial was held on defendant's Amended Petition and plaintiff's Counter Petition on October 13, 1987. (R. 183) Before the trial began, the attorneys met with the court in his chambers, whereupon the court informed them that he had already read the child custody evaluation report (R. 350-352). Trial went forward with proffered testimony, and Judge Park announced his decision from the bench. (R. 315-326)

Because the attorneys could not agree on the language of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and final Order Modifying Decree, a further hearing was held on November 6, 1987, at which time the attorneys and the court went through a set of the final documents prepared by counsel for defendant. (R. 329-365) Counsel for plaintiff had marked her objections and proposed

changes in red ink on the copies given the court. (R. 229-244) Discussion was held and ultimate modifications were ordered by the court. Plaintiff's counsel moved for a Rule 62, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Stay of Execution of Judgment which was denied by the court. (R. 361-362)

The final Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order Modifying Decree were signed by Judge Park on November 10, 1987 and entered in the court record that same day. (R. 193, 204) Plaintiff's Notice of Appeal was also filed on November 10, 1987. (R. 208)

Transfer of custody of the minor child did not occur, as plaintiff's Motion for Stay of Judgment of District Court Pending Appeal was granted by the Court of Appeals.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court committed error when it found that (1) plaintiff's transition from part-time work and part-time school to full-time work and the minor child's resulting placement in full-time child care and (2) defendant's remarriage constituted changes of circumstance sufficiently substantial to warrant the reopening of the child custody award. The change of circumstances on the plaintiff's part was not substantial, and Utah case law clearly states that defendant's remarriage was not a change of circumstance to be considered in a custody modification proceeding.

The court compounded its error when it considered the issue

of child custody de novo and found that the same factors used as changes of circumstance were also justification for modifying the previous award of custody, giving joint custody to both parties, but awarding the physical care, custody and control to defendant. The court clearly erred when it ruled that a substitute mother, the stepmother in the instant case, would be highly preferable to any day care facility and the child's natural mother together. The court penalized the plaintiff for choosing to work full-time, even though the court acknowledged that she was forced to work full-time because of her finances.

The court committed further error by failing to adequately justify its modification of the award of child support to plaintiff, by setting the previous alimony award for review when it found no change of circumstances with respect to alimony, and by awarding the 1987 and 1988 federal and state income tax exemptions for the minor child to defendant, finding that in 1987 he was the primary care provider because he paid \$150.00 per month for child support. The court awarded him the 1988 exemptions on the assumption that the child would be living with defendant most of the year. This matter was also set for review in one year, which was not necessary, in light of the court's errors with respect to the custody award.

## ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT THERE HAD BEEN, SINCE THE TIME OF THE DECREE, CHANGES IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES UPON WHICH THE PREVIOUS CUSTODY AWARD WAS BASED.

The bifurcated procedure required by Utah case law in modification of custody actions is most clearly enunciated in a line of cases commencing with Hogge v. Hogge, 649 P.2d 51 (Utah 1982). In Hogge the Utah Supreme Court determined the bifurcated procedure involves (1) an initial decision that there are changed circumstances warranting the court's reconsideration of the custody award, and then (2) a subsequent decision as to the manner in which custody should be modified, if at all. Id. at 53. Unless the petitioner for a change in custody successfully carries the burden in establishing the changed circumstances, the trial court should not move on to a consideration of the custody issue.

Step one of this bifurcated process itself becomes a two-pronged process or test:

[in] the initial step, the court will receive evidence only as to the nature and materiality of any changes in those circumstances upon which the earlier award of custody was based. In this step, the party seeking modification must demonstrate (1) that since the time of the previous decree, there have been changes in the circumstances upon which the previous award was based; and (2) that those changes are sufficiently substantial and material to justify reopening the question of custody. The trial court must make a separate finding as to whether this burden of proof has been met. If so, the court, either as a continuation of the same hearing, or in a separate hearing, will proceed to the second step. However, where that burden of proof is not met, the trial court will not reach the second step, the petition to modify will be denied, and the existing custody award will remain unchanged.

Id. at 54.

In the instant case, the attorneys for the parties attempted to lead the trial court through the bifurcated process. To that end both attorneys made "opening statements," (R. 254, 260) in which they proffered their evidence regarding the existence of changes of circumstances regarding child custody, as well as the other three issues in question, and argued the case law dealing with that requirement. Despite the attorneys' attempted division of the evidence into the two steps, the trial court did not make a finding at the end of this proffered evidence regarding changes of circumstance, but rather allowed the counsel for defendant to commence presenting his case regarding all issues. (R. 268)

After all evidence had been proffered by the attorneys, the trial court ruled from the bench regarding the necessary changes in circumstance, indicating that it was "not at all persuaded by the little nick picky things that have been brought up here and there." (sic) (R. 347) The trial court considered only two of defendant's alleged changes of circumstance: (1) "[t]he fact that the mother has obtained full time employment and is obligated as a result of that to place the child in a day care center despite how good that day care center is," further explaining the court's belief that a day care center is "not a substitute for a mother in the home," and (2) "the fact that the petitioner in this case has remarried and established a stable home." (R. 195, 317)

The trial court, however, failed (and could not have, if it

had attempted) to relate these changes in circumstances to any part of the previous award of custody in the original decree of divorce, as required by Hogge. It was only in the first stipulation filed by the parties during the original divorce action that one of the parties--the plaintiff--was designated "a fit person to care for the physical and emotional needs of said child." (R. 8) The findings, conclusions, and decree prepared by plaintiff's original attorney failed to designate either party again as a fit person to care for the minor child. According to all three final documents, the plaintiff was simply awarded custody of the child. (R. 18-23)

In order for the trial court to relate these two changes in circumstance to any part of the previous award of custody in the decree, the court would have had to find that plaintiff was originally awarded custody of the child because she only worked part-time, that the child had not been placed in a day care center and that the defendant had not yet remarried! Yet, the trial court found that plaintiff's full-time work, the child's placement in a day care center full-time, and the defendant's remarriage were changes of circumstance worthy of examining the custody issue de novo.

Defendant would have had the court believe that, at the time of the divorce action, he understood that plaintiff would be the primary caretaker of the child and that "she would raise the child in her own home and he would pay her child support and pay her

alimony in response to the court's order." (R. 269) This assertion by defendant flies in the face of all reality; certainly, he did not anticipate that she could adequately feed, clothe, educate and house herself and their child on \$150.00 child support and \$200.00 alimony per month. Despite defendant's proffered testimony regarding this understanding, the trial court did not refer to defendant's assertion in any way and did not make any finding regarding this testimony.

There was neither factual nor legal justification for the trial court's finding that plaintiff's full-time work, the child's placement in a day care center full-time, and the defendant's remarriage were material changes of circumstance upon which the previous award was based.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT PLAINTIFF'S TRANSITION FROM PART-TIME EMPLOYMENT TO FULL-TIME EMPLOYMENT AND THE PLACEMENT OF THE MINOR CHILD IN A DAY CARE CENTER CONSTITUTED A CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES SUFFICIENTLY SUBSTANTIAL AND MATERIAL TO JUSTIFY REOPENING THE QUESTION OF CUSTODY.

The second prong of step one of the Hogge analysis requires that the trial court find that the material changes of circumstance upon which the previous custody award was based are sufficiently substantial and material to justify reopening the question of custody. The facts in the instant case simply do not justify the court's finding in this matter.

Plaintiff's proffered testimony was that, prior to the parties' divorce, plaintiff worked part-time, approximately three to four hours per day. (R. 253) Therefore, the child was already

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