1987

Fullmer v. Fullmer : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Judge Boyd L. Park of the Fourth Judicial District Court did not abuse his discretion when he found that there had been a material change of circumstances, sufficient and material for purposes of reopening the custody issue. The original decree of divorce was entered pursuant to a "no-contest type" divorce in which defendant-respondent was unrepresented by counsel. The findings of fact and conclusions of law signed in the original Divorce Decree do not designate either party as being a fit and proper person to be awarded the permanent care, custody and control of the minor child of the parties. Defendant-respondent's proffered testimony at the hearing regarding change of custody stated that when he signed the stipulation he anticipated that the minor child would live with his mother, and that defendant-respondent would have visitation. That subsequent to the entry of the decree of divorce, defendant-respondent had the minor child with him three-fourths of the time and in fact became the custodial parent for the minor child. In addition, plaintiff-appellant began working on a full-time basis, thus reducing her time availability to spend with the minor child.

After having found there existed a material change of circumstances sufficient to justify reopening the custody issue, the court correctly decided de novo which custody arrangement would be in the best interests of the child. In doing so, the court took into consideration function-related factors, i.e. primary caretaker, time availability, stability of the environment and relationship to step-parent and step-sibling. The court also relied heavily on a child custody evaluation report submitted by Bert Peterson, LCSW of Child Custody Evaluation Services, wherein he recommended that custody of the minor child be given to defendant-respondent.

Once deciding that defendant-respondent would be the appropriate person to be awarded the permanent care, custody and control of the minor child, the court failed to enter an order requiring plaintiff-appellant to pay to defendant-respondent child support, based on her ability to pay, for the minor child of the parties. Instead, the trial court ordered defendant-respondent to pay to plaintiff-appellant \$250 a month in child support for the three summer months that she would have visitation with the minor child. However, in light of its order requiring defendant-respondent to pay child support for the three months in which he did not have the minor child residing with him, the court correctly awarded defendant-respondent the 1987 and 1988 income tax exemptions. The court's reasoning for increase in child

support was based on creating a greater stream of income for the child, and said award was justifiably within the trial court's discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT FOUND THAT THERE HAD BEEN, SINCE THE TIME OF THE DECREE CHANGES IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES UPON WHICH THE PREVIOUS CUSTODY AWARD WAS BASED.

Hogge v. Hogge, 649 P.2d 51 (Utah, 1982) adopted a bifurcated procedure for petitions to modify decrees of divorce in regards to child custody. Pursuant to said procedure outlined in Hogge, the court first must make a determination that a substantial change of circumstances has occurred warranting the court to reopen the issue of child custody. If the court finds that a substantial change in circumstances has taken place since the entry of the decree of divorce, the court may "determine denovo which custody arrangement will serve the welfare or best interests of the child, and modify, or refuse to modify, the decree accordingly." Id. at 54.

It is true that the attorneys for the parties presented evidence to the court in accordance with the Hogge analysis by first making opening statements regarding a material change of circumstances in regards to child custody. (R. 254, 260). The court acknowledged the bifurcated process as articulated in Hogge and expressed its familiarity with all of the cases that had been

cited by both counsel (R. 315). As such, the court was also expressing its familiarity with Moody v. Moody, 715 P.2 507 (Utah, 1985), which held that the court may receive child custody evaluation reports for purposes of making its threshold decision regarding substantial changes in circumstances pursuant to Hogge. Id. at 509 (R. 298).

Plaintiff-appellant takes issue with the fact that the court allowed counsel for defendant-respondent to commence presenting evidence on all issues in the case prior to making a ruling regarding substantial change of circumstances. The bifurcated procedure as enumerated in Hogge v. Hogge is often difficult to implement at the trial level in that much of the evidence presented with regard to step 2 of the Hogge analysis regarding trial denovo is also relevant to step 1 of the Hogge analysis regarding material change of circumstances. The practical problems with regard to the Hogge analysis were articulated by District Court Judge Daniels in his concurring opinion in Moody v. Moody as follows:

The problem with the procedure is this: the evidence supporting changed circumstances is almost always the same evidence that is used to establish the best interests of the child. Even when there is additional evidence which bears solely on the best interest question, that evidence is usually so entwined with the changed circumstances evidence that it is almost impossible to sort out. The trial judge is faced with an objection to almost every question. He or she must then try to figure out whether the answer would relate to changed circumstances, best interests or both. The witness frequently must be recalled to give further

testimony in the second phase of the hearing, which causes inconvenience for the witness and expense for the parties.

Admittedly, some trial judges do not follow this cumbersome procedure. Instead, we take all of the evidence and sort out mentally that which relates to changed circumstances and that which relates to best interests. We then make findings on both issues, taking into consideration the important policy of custodial stability, which requires a very high standard to establish a material change in circumstances. Id. at 511.

Consequently, the trial court did not err with regard to listening to the entire evidence in the matter prior to entering a ruling regarding whether or not there had been a change of circumstances sufficient to warrant reopening of the child custody issue. Indeed, the court was justified in hearing all of the evidence, including the child custody evaluation submitted by Bert Peterson, LCSW, in making this determination of whether or not there were changes in circumstances that justified reopening of the child custody issue.

In finding that there had been a material change of circumstances for purposes of reopening the custody issue, the court made its findings of fact, which includes some of the following: that at the time of the entry of the decree of divorce in this matter, plaintiff-appellant was working on a part-time basis and attending school from one to four hours per day; that said part-time work schedule of plaintiff-appellant enabled her to spend considerable time with the minor child; that in August of

1987, plaintiff-appellant began working full-time requiring the minor child to be placed full-time in a day care center; that subsequent to the decree of divorce defendant-respondent had the minor child visiting with him a significant period of time at the request of plaintiff-appellant. (R. 194,195) All of the above cited reasons were part of the basis for the court finding a material change in circumstances for purposes of reopening the custody issue. The court then articulated in its findings that it had based its decision on finding a material change of circumstances primarily because of two of the reasons above cited, to wit:

a. The change in plaintiff's work schedule to full-time employment necessitating the placement of the minor child, Dagin, in a day care center also on a full-time basis.

b. The remarriage of defendant and his creation thereby of a stable home environment where the child can be cared for by a stepmother who is a homemaker, not working outside the home, during those times when the father is working. (R. 195)

The complaint in the original divorce action was filed by plaintiff-appellant and her attorney. In the complaint for divorce, the plaintiff-appellant did not pray for custody of the minor child (R. 1,2). Defendant-respondent being unrepresented by counsel, entered into a stipulation with plaintiff-appellant and her attorney shortly after the divorce was filed (R.8). An amended Stipulation was subsequently entered into by the parties on February 13, 1985 in which neither party was awarded custody--

the only allusion being an award to plaintiff-appellant of \$150 per month in child support. (R. 10-12) Wherefore, findings of fact, conclusions of law and a decree of divorce were duly entered granting to plaintiff-appellant custody of the minor child without any designation whatsoever or finding by the trial court that she was a fit and proper person to be awarded the permanent care, custody and control of the minor child. (R. 18 through 23) The only reference to plaintiff-appellant being a fit person to be awarded the permanent care, custody and control of the child was the original stipulation entered into between the parties, which could have arguably been superseded by the Amended Stipulation.

Since the trial court in the original divorce made no finding regarding whether either party was a fit person to be awarded the permanent care, custody and control of the minor child, defendant-respondent's testimony regarding his intent when executing the stipulations becomes relevant. Defendant-respondent's proffered testimony at the hearing regarding change of custody stated that when he had signed the stipulation he anticipated that the minor child would live with his mother, and defendant-respondent would have visitation. (R. 256 through 259) In addition, at the time of the decree of divorce, plaintiff-appellant had more time availability to care for the minor child since she was employed part-time and could care for the child personally for a great portion of the day. (R. 259, 260) The proffered testimony of

defendant-respondent was made part of the findings of fact of the court wherein it stated as follows:

4. That at the time of the entry of the decree of divorce in this matter, the plaintiff was working on a part-time basis and attending school from one to four hours per day.

5. That the part-time work schedule of the plaintiff enabled her to spend considerable time with the minor child.

6. That in August, 1987, the plaintiff has become gainfully employed on a full-time basis working at least eight hours per day, that during such time as she is working on a full-time basis, the child has been placed in a day care center.

7. That subsequent to the entry of the decree of divorce and for the period of time beginning in May of 1985 and continuing through the beginning of the summer of 1986, the defendant, at the request of plaintiff had the child visiting with him a significant period of time. From time to time when the mother needed assistance with the care of the child, she brought the child to the father. (R. 194 & 195)

The findings of fact as articulated by the Fourth Judicial District Court show that there are sufficient justifications for the court's decision that there had been a material change of circumstances upon which the previous award of custody had been based.

II. THE COURT'S FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S WORK SCHEDULE NECESSITATED THE PLACEMENT OF THE MINOR CHILD IN A DAY CARE CENTER WAS A SUFFICIENTLY SUBSTANTIAL AND MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES TO JUSTIFY REOPENING THE ISSUE OF CUSTODY.

In the case of Marchant v. Marchant, 66 Utah Adv. Rpt. 45 (September 18, 1987), this court quoted Rule 52a of the Utah Rules

of Civil Procedure to state that findings of fact "shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witness." Id. at 47. However, in the case of child custody awards this court articulated standards for findings of fact of a trial court in child custody cases, and stated that sufficient findings:

1. Are sufficiently detailed;
2. Including enough facts to disclose the process through which the ultimate conclusion is reached;
3. Indicate the process is logical and properly supported; and
4. Are not clearly erroneous. Id. at 47.

In setting the standard for what factors are properly considered by a trial court in determining an award of custody, the court in Marchant reiterated the factors that had been previously outlined in Pusey v. Pusey, 728 P.2d 117, 120 (Utah, 1986) and stated that child custody decisions should be based on findings regarding "function related factors" and articulated the following list to be considered by a trial court: 1) "The identity of the primary caretaker" Id. 47; 2) "The identity of the parent with a greater flexibility to provide personal care for the child" Id. at 47; 3) "The identity of the parent with whom the child has spent most of his or her time pending custody determination if that period has been lengthy" Id. at 47; 4) "The stability of the environment provided by each parent".

The Fourth Judicial District Court in its Findings of Fact regarding material change of circumstances stated as follows:

4. That at the time of the entry of the decree of divorce in this matter, the plaintiff was working on a part-time basis and attending school from time to time.

5. That the part-time work schedule of the plaintiff enabled her to spend considerable time with the minor child.

6. That the plaintiff has become gainfully employed on a full-time basis working at least 8 hours per day. That during such time as she is working on a full-time basis, the child has been placed in a day care center.

7. That subsequent to the entry of the decree of divorce and for that period of the time beginning in May of 1985 and continuing through the beginning of the summer of 1986, the defendant, at the request of the plaintiff had the child visiting with him a significant period of time. From time to time when the mother needed assistance with the care of the child, she brought the child to the father. (R. 194, 195)

The above stated findings are sufficiently detailed in order to satisfy the requirements set forth in Marchant. Indeed, the findings indicate that at the time of the divorce, plaintiff was working part-time and attending school from time to time, and thus she had a great deal more time to spend with the minor child than defendant who was working full-time at Wicatt. Subsequent to the decree of divorce, plaintiff-appellant began working full-time; and as a result, her time availability to spend with the minor child was substantially reduced. Indeed, because of plaintiff-appellant's busy working schedule, social schedule and vacation schedule, she did not have sufficient time to spend with the minor

child when he was ill, and would bring the minor child to be cared for by defendant-respondent on those occasions. (R. 256, 257) Because of plaintiff-appellant's schedule, the parties reversed roles, and defendant-respondent, became the primary caretaker of the minor child. (R. 257) It is based on these facts that the court articulated its findings as above stated. The findings are based on sufficient factual testimony and evidence and should not be set aside.

III. IN THE PRESENT FACT SITUATION, THE REMARRIAGE OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT TO A FULL-TIME HOMEMAKER CONSTITUTED A MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES TO JUSTIFY REOPENING THE QUESTION OF CUSTODY.

Plaintiff-appellant relies on the case of Kramer v. Kramer, 738 P.2d 624 (Utah, 1987) for her proposition that the trial court erred in considering defendant-respondent's current marriage to a full-time homemaker to be a substantial and material change for purposes of reopening the custody issue. Plaintiff-appellant argues that the fact situation in the present case is identical to that in Kramer in which the trial court focused on the custodial parent only in determining whether there had been a material change of circumstances for purposes of reopening the custody issue. The trial court in that case held that the noncustodial parent in Kramer did not fall within the exception articulated in Hogge v. Hogge, wherein the court changed custody of the minor child to the noncustodial mother who had overcome emotional problems and could provide a stable home environment for her

children.

However, Kramer was not intended to overrule the Hogge decision but only to limit its application to a circumstance wherein the trial court felt that the original decree of divorce was based on circumstances regarding the noncustodial parent. The court indicated in Kramer that it was not overruling the Hogge decision but merely limiting its application:

The narrow construction we place on Hogge is not an innovation or change in our case law. Rather it is consistent with the approach this court has implicitly taken in applying the first prong of Hogge's change of custody test. Kramer, Id. at 627.

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